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CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION (COVERT POWERS) BILL 2011 
Committee 

Resumed from 12 September. The Deputy Chair of Committees (Hon Alyssa Hayden) in the chair; Hon Michael 
Mischin (Attorney General), in charge of the bill. 

Clause 80: Terms used — 
Progress was reported after clause 80 had been partly considered.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: Before the debate on this clause was adjourned yesterday, I was in the process of 
informing the house of a submission that had been made by the Clerk of the Legislative Council with regard to 
this bill, in particular clause 80 and related clauses. Just to make it easier and to provide some continuity, I will 
go back and repeat a bit of what I was quoting from yesterday. I was quoting from the letter provided by the 
Clerk, dated 16 December 2011, to the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review, at 
page 7 — 

38. Clause 87(3) ensures that a person involved in a proceeding is prevented from making a 
statement that discloses or may lead to the disclosure of the operative’s identity or where the 
operative lives. A “person involved in a proceeding” is defined in this clause to include: 

a. the court; (this would include members of Parliament) — 

That is emphasised in the submission — 

b. a party to the proceeding; 
c. a person given leave to be heard or make submissions in the proceeding; 
d. a lawyer representing a person referred to the above or a lawyer assisting the 

court in the proceeding; 
e. any other officer of the court or person assisting the court in the proceeding; 

(This would include staff of a committee) — 
Again, that is emphasised in the submission — 

f.  a person acting in the execution of any process or the enforcement of any 
order in the proceeding. 

39. Subject to clauses 89 and 90, a question must not be asked of a witness, including the operative 
that may lead to the disclosure of the operative’s true identity or where the operative lives. A 
witness, including the operative, cannot be required to (and must not) answer a question, give 
evidence or provide information that discloses, or may lead to the disclosure of, the operative’s 
true identity or where the operative lives. A person involved in the proceeding must not make a 
statement that discloses, or may lead to the disclosure of, the operative’s true identity or where 
the operative lives. 

40. In clause 90(9) it provides a court may make orders in regards to: 
• suppressing the publication of anything said; 
• how transcripts are to be dealt with; and 
• any other order to protect the operative’s true identity, 

any contravention of an order provides a penalty of 10 years imprisonment and a 
summary conviction penalty of a fine of $24000 or imprisonment for 2 years. 

41. The second reading speech indicates the contravention is an indictable offence. It is unclear, 
however, as to how the offence would be prosecuted in relation to a parliamentary committee 
without the use of proceedings in parliament. 

42. Clause 93(4) allows for appeals to a court that has jurisdiction to hear and determine appeals 
from a judgement given pursuant to clauses 86 and 90. This would allow a person before a 
committee to seek an adjournment of proceeding and apply to a Court for a judgment on 
appeal against the decision to give or refuse leave, or to make or refuse to make an order. 

43. It is an offence in clause 96 for any person to do something (the disclosure action) that 
discloses, or is likely to lead to the disclosure of, the true identity of an operative for whom a 
witness identity protection certificate has been given or where the operative lives unless the 
certificate has been cancelled prior to the disclosure action. 
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44. An offence will not be committed if the disclosure action is required under clause 89, 
authorised under clause 90 or permitted under clause 95. The penalty for a disclosure under 
this clause is 10 years imprisonment with provision for summary conviction of 2 years 
imprisonment or a fine of $24,000.  

45. In my opinion, if a member of a committee discloses the identity of an operative in the 
Committee or House, that member may be charged under the provision of clause 95. 

I hope that members are paying close attention to this because it relates to members, particularly the many 
members in this house, who are members of a standing committee of Parliament. The submission from the Clerk 
continues — 

46. At first glance, one could ask what is wrong with the policy of the Bill. When considered in 
the context of recent history it becomes apparent. In 2006, The West reported that Mr Marquet, 
a former Clerk of the Legislative Council, knew a person since 1992 who sold drugs 
(presumably, before he became an operative). In 2000 and 2001, it is suggested this person 
supplied the drug speed to Mr Marquet.  

The submission quotes the newspaper article as follows — 
“The man, who cannot be identified for legal reasons, was an operative code named T3 during 
the 2003 royal commission into allegations of police corruption in WA and since then used by 
the Corruption and Crime Commission.” 

The submission continues — 
47. In the same newspaper of that day, another article stated that Ms Rayner, an acting 

commissioner of the Corruption and Crime Commission (CCC), was charged with corruption 
and attempting to pervert the course of justice for allegedly warning Mr Marquet that he was 
being bugged by the CCC. 

48. Without proper checks and balances in place it is easy to see how covert operatives or others 
could act in illegal ways or at the very least interfere with proceedings in Parliament. If these 
types of situations related to a proceeding in parliament, under this legislation it may adversely 
affect any parliamentary inquiry. I do not suggest the examples above are directly relevant, but 
rather they demonstrate generally how easily investigation by a law enforcement agency can 
take unexpected turns. No doubt, there are a number of scenarios in which the activities of a 
covert operative and a Member of Parliament may intersect and either relate to or result in 
inquires by committees, if the CCC’s history is anything to go by. 

49. I note the Law Council in its submission to the Senate Committee also raised concerns about 
the secrecy provisions generally. The Law Council was opposed to any change that denies 
courts any role in evaluating whether there is a need to protect the true identity of a witness 
and in balancing that need against other competing interests. Further, the Law Council raised 
the concern the provision have the potential to impact substantially on the right of an accused. 
This is because an accused person’s ability to defend himself or herself may be significantly 
prejudiced if he or she is not permitted to discover the role and character of those giving or 
providing evidence against him or her. 

It is worth pointing out that in the case of the former Clerk, Mr Marquet, which I know a fair bit about, having 
been in this place at the time that occurred, the covert operator who entrapped Mr Marquet was indeed someone 
with an existing criminal record. We are not necessarily talking about police officers, and neither is this 
legislation. This legislation provides for covert operations to be carried out by people who are not sworn officers 
of the police service, but who could be civilians and civilians with a criminal record, which would no doubt 
enhance their credibility in terms of covert operations. This is not without precedent in Western Australia and if 
this bill goes ahead with this provision in place there will be significant implications for members of Parliament 
and our operations as the elected representatives of the people of Western Australia. We should never forget that 
that is our role and we should be outside the reach of things like covert police operations, in my opinion. 

I continue to quote from the Clerk’s submission — 

51. Notwithstanding the various reports of Royal Commissions into the Police in Australian 
jurisdictions over the past few decades there continues to be reports of corruption. 

52. The Covert Powers Bill’s definition of court is also different to that used in the CCC Act. 
Section 114 of the CCC Act provides: 
(1) In this section — 
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court includes any tribunal, authority or person having power to require the 
production of documents or the answering of questions. 

(2) If in proceedings before a court, the identity of an officer of the Commission in 
respect of whom an assumed identity approval is or was in force may be disclosed, 
the court must, unless it considers that the interests of justice otherwise require — 
(a) ensure that such parts of the proceedings as relate to the real identity of the 

officer are held in private; and 
(b) make such orders as to the suppression of evidence given before it as, in its 

opinion, will ensure that the identity of the officer is not disclosed. 
(3) In particular, the court — 

(a) may allow an officer in respect of whom an assumed identity approval was 
or is in force to appear before it under the assumed identity or under a code 
name or code number; and 

(b) may make orders prohibiting the publication of any information (including 
information derived from evidence before it) that identifies, or might 
facilitate the identification of, any person who has been or is proposed to be 
called to give evidence. 

(4) A person who discloses information in contravention of an order in force under this 
section is guilty of a crime. 

Penalty: Imprisonment for 5 years and a fine of $100 000. 

53. Clearly the definition of court in s. 114 does not apply to committees of the House. Further, 
section 3(2) of the CCC provides “That nothing in this Act affects, or is intended to affect the 
operation of the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891 or the Parliamentary Papers Act 1891 and 
a power, right or function conferred under this Act is not to be exercised if, or to the extent 
that, the exercise would relate to a matter determinable exclusively by a House of Parliament 
unless that House so resolves”. 

54. So a covert operative under the CCC Act can be asked to reveal their real identity whilst a 
covert operative within the Fisheries Department or Police Force cannot be asked to reveal 
their true identity. 

That will be the case if the bill proceeds in its current form. 

55. If the matter related to parliamentary privilege, and the CCC refers an allegation pursuant to 
section 27A of the CCC Act 2003 then under section 27B it requires an inquiry by the 
Privileges Committee to be undertaken by the CCC. What power does the CCC have in asking 
the operative of the Fisheries department or Police Force to identify their real identity? 

[Member’s time extended.] 

Hon GIZ WATSON: The submission then goes on to comment on the WA royal commission regarding waiving 
parliamentary privilege. I now turn to the conclusion of the submission, which states on page 12 — 

57. I would encourage this committee to uphold a cornerstone of constitutional law and 
recommend that clause 80(c) of the Bill be deleted. 

58. Specifically, the Bill seeks to place conditions on the access by parliamentary committees to 
certain information, and in so doing, fundamentally undermines both the powers and 
immunities of parliamentary committees and the rights of unfettered access to witnesses by 
parliamentary committees. 

59. The law of parliamentary privilege protects proceedings in Parliament from being questioned 
or impeached in any place outside of Parliament. The principle has a long and consistent 
history. It took its first statutory form in 1689 in article 9 of the Bill of Rights. Because of this 
principle, the Houses and committees, members and witnesses of the Parliament are able to 
operate without their proceedings being questioned or interfered with in any way. Any 
statutory provision that seeks to limit this freedom is therefore fundamentally obnoxious to this 
general principle. 

60. It would only be in the rarest and most extraordinary of cases that the Parliament would decide 
to set some limit on its own operations, and legislate so as to limit itself in some way. 
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61. However, there is a second policy included in the Bill, namely, to override the operation of 
parliamentary privilege by making parliamentary committee operations bound by a statute, by 
setting conditions of access between parliamentary committees and their witnesses, by 
dictating the manner in which parliamentary committees must hear evidence and by making 
any disclosure of a witness’s identity a criminal offence. 

62. This second policy is a major departure from the long-standing supremacy of parliamentary 
privilege and a significant trespass on the powers, privileges and immunities of the Houses and 
their committees and on the rights of witnesses of the Parliament. 

63. The question that should always be asked with any proposed statutory provision is “what is the 
need for the provision and what is the evil which it seeks to remedy?” One of the oldest rules 
of statutory interpretation, the mischief rule, has at its core the question, “what is the mischief 
or defect which is not provided for in the law as it stands at present?” 

64. There are no known instances where a Committee has requested an individual to disclose their 
real identity. As to whether a committee would ever inquire into the identity of an individual, it 
would be highly unlikely. 

65. There is no justification that has been put forward for these provisions. In my view, they are 
unnecessary. They are addressing a problem that does not exist. To date committees have not 
needed to identify an individual’s real name. 

66. The Bill would remove from the Parliament its responsibility to promote the realisation of the 
three goals of openness, accountability and integrity upon which our system of government 
depends. 

I now want to move to what the standing committee said about this clause, which was partly in response to the 
submission that I just read out. At page 61 of the sixty-ninth report by the Standing Committee on Uniform 
Legislation and Statutes Review into the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Bill 2011, the committee 
states — 

14.1 Clause 80 raises that fundamental legislative principle the Committee routinely considers —
Does the Bill have sufficient regard to the institution of Parliament and in particular does the 
clause affect parliamentary privilege in any manner? 

Sitting suspended from 1.00 to 2.00 pm 
Hon GIZ WATSON: Before we broke for lunch, I was referring to the sixty-ninth report of the Standing 
Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review relating to this bill and quoting what it states about 
clause 80. I will pick up that point. The report states — 

14.2 Clause 80 states:  
Terms used  
In this Part, unless the contrary intention appears —  
court includes —  

(a) a tribunal or other body established or continued under a written 
law and having a power to obtain evidence or information;  

(b) a Royal Commission established under the Royal Commissions Act 
1968;  

(c) a commission, board, committee or other body established by the 
Governor or by either or both Houses of Parliament or by the 
Government of the State to inquire into any matter;  

14.3 The Committee noted that the definition of “court” deviates from the Model Law in a 
significant way. The Model Law limits the definition to including “any tribunal or person 
authorised by law or consent of parties to receive evidence.” However, unlike other 
jurisdictions, Western Australia Police expanded the definition to “allow for maximum 
protections to operatives and protected witnesses when giving evidence, information or 
producing documents.” 

That is a quote from the submission of Western Australia Police to the committee inquiry. It continues — 
14.4 The rationale for clause 80 is the need to extend the protection to any proceeding where a 

person is required to attend and give their name. A further justification is that it is “in line 
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with” the definition of “court” in the Witness Protection (Western Australia) Act 1996 and the 
CCC Act. Whilst that is true of the Witness Protection (Western Australia) Act 1996 it is not 
true with respect to the CCC Act. There, sections 114, 134, 152, 153, 208 and 209 do not 
expressly prescribe for the Houses of Parliament or its committees. Section 114 for example 
states:  

Identity of certain officers not to be disclosed in legal proceedings (1) In this section 
— court includes any tribunal, authority or person having power to require the 
production of documents or the answering of questions.  

14.5 Clearly the definition of “court” in those sections, although broad, does not apply to the 
Parliament or its committees when read with section 3(2) of the CCC Act which reinforces that 
nothing in that Act:  

affects, or is intended to affect, the operation of the Parliamentary Privileges Act 
1891 or the Parliamentary Papers Act 1891 and a power, right or function conferred 
under this Act is not to be exercised if, or to the extent, that the exercise would relate 
to a matter determinable exclusively by a House of Parliament, unless that House so 
resolves.  

For the information of those members who were not here, which is probably most, when we debated the 
establishment of the CCC quite a long time ago now, that protection for Parliament did not exist, from memory, 
so that act was amended because concerns were raised about protection of the operation of Parliament and its 
committees. The CCC act has that provision in it. The report goes on to state — 

14.6 The view of Western Australia Police is as follows:  
In the context of the issues of parliamentary privilege, what it is about is protecting 
the identity of the actual person, not preventing any publication of evidence that they 
may give. So I do not know to what extent there will be any problems with 
parliamentary privilege.  
For example, the name of the person giving evidence is not published or included in 
any report, the information given by the operative is subject to parliamentary 
privilege; however, their identity is protected.  
I do not know whether it is likely that the operative’s true identity would have any 
bearing on the evidence they would give; it is more a case of the evidence they are 
giving than their identity.  
It is not about putting any sort of restrictions in terms of parliamentary privilege 
about what evidence they may give to parliamentary committees et cetera but about 
protecting the true identity of who it is. 

14.7 Further, Western Australia Police advised that no other jurisdiction expressly prescribes 
parliamentary committees in their respective definitions of “court” and that this was: 

possibly not contemplated by the JWG on model laws as they would not have foreseen 
the necessity for operatives to give evidence at parliamentary committee hearings but 
rather concentrated on the traditional places an operative would be called to give 
evidence (usually criminal proceedings). Western Australia included Parliamentary 
Committees to assure that a mandated provision would assure the protection of an 
operative’s true name.  

It is probably pretty patronising to suggest that the joint working group did not consider these matters. It is a 
fairly fundamental principle of any Parliament. The report goes on to state — 

14.8 Although the Explanatory Memorandum states that its definition “is broad to ensure maximum 
protection to operatives when giving evidence”, the Committee is of the view that the inclusion 
of the Parliament and its committees diminishes the sovereignty of the Western Australian 
Parliament. As a fundamental principle, it would only be in the rarest and most extraordinary 
of cases that the Parliament would decide to set some limit on its own operations and legislate 
so as to limit itself in some way.  

14.9 Arguably, the intent of clause 80 is to waive parliamentary privilege and impacts on Article 9 
of the Bill of Rights 1689. Article 9, which is incorporated as section 1 in the Parliamentary 
Privileges Act 1891, provides that the “freedom of speech and debates or proceedings in 
Parliament ought not to be impeached or questioned in any court or place out of Parliament.”  
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14.10 By Article 9, each House of Parliament, its committees, Members and attending witnesses are 
able to operate without their proceedings being questioned or interfered with in any way. 
Arguably, clause 80, which seeks to limit this freedom is fundamentally obnoxious and 
inconsistent with Article 9. As stated by Emeritus Professor Enid Campbell:  

Australian Parliaments have not shown any inclination to remove or “qualify” the 
protections accorded by Article 9 of the Bill of Rights 1689. The freedoms enshrined 
in Article 9 are undoubtedly the most important of the privileges of Parliaments and 
are essential in parliamentary democracies. 

14.11 Article 9 established the right of the Parliament to determine what matters were to be 
considered by it. ‘Proceedings in Parliament’ includes evidence before a committee, 
submissions made and the report of that committee. A related question arises as to its impact 
on section 7 of the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891, which limits the ground on which a 
person can refuse to answer a Parliamentary inquiry due to the matter being of “a private 
nature” and “not affecting the subject of inquiry” with the House determining whether that 
refusal will be accepted. If clause 80 was applied to proceedings in the Parliament, section 7 
would be diminished.  

14.12 Concealing the true identity of an operative who may appear before the Parliament is directed 
at two public interests:  

• protecting the personal safety of the operative witness (their family and associates); 
and 

• enhancing the efficacy of the controlled operations by preserving the cover of an 
operative and providing some security for other police officers when participating in 
controlled operations. 

14.13 The competing public interests are the right of an accused to be tried fairly and the conduct of 
criminal proceedings in public. Limitations on the latter have potential to undermine public 
confidence in court proceedings. The same is true for Parliamentary inquiries.  

14.14 The assumed identity provisions will deny a “court” (here, the Parliament or a committee), any 
role in evaluating whether there is a need to protect the true identity of a witness and in 
balancing that need against other competing interests, such as the interests of justice.  

I might also suggest public interest. It continues —  

In contrast, sections 114, 134, 152, 153, 208 and 209 of the CCC Act allow the Commission to 
ask an operative to reveal their true identity. The Committee finds it extraordinary that a 
person with an assumed identity within the Department of Fisheries or Western Australia 
Police appearing before a Parliamentary committee cannot be asked to reveal their true 
identity, yet can if before the CCC. 

The Attorney General will have a chance to respond in a minute if he thinks that is not true. In effect, we are 
giving more leeway to the Corruption and Crime Commission then we are giving to the Parliament which is, of 
course, supposed to be representative of the people of this state and to have supreme authority. The report 
continues — 

14.15 The following clauses in Part 4 of the Bill give context to the term “court”.  

• Clause 87(3) defines a person involved in a proceeding to include “the court” (which 
would include members of the Parliament) and “any other officer of the court or person 
assisting the court in the proceeding”; (this would include all parliamentary staff, 
including Hansard).  

• Clause 90(8) provides for a “court” (again being a Parliamentary committee) to make 
orders suppressing the publication of anything said in a hearing and how subsequent 
transcripts are to be dealt with in order to protect the operative’s true identity and location.  

• Clause 93(4) allows for appeals to a court that has jurisdiction to hear and determine 
appeals from a judgment given pursuant to clauses 86 and 90. If, in a parliamentary 
committee hearing, the operative is asked to identify him or herself and refuses, the clause 
allows the person to seek an adjournment of the proceeding and apply to a court for a 
judgment on appeal against the decision to give or refuse leave or to make or refuse to 



Extract from Hansard 
[COUNCIL — Thursday, 13 September 2012] 

 p5784b-5801a 
Hon Giz Watson; Deputy Chair; Hon Sue Ellery; Hon Philip Gardiner; Hon Nick Goiran; Hon Michael Mischin; 

Hon Kate Doust; Hon Adele Farina 

 [7] 

make an order. The person leaves the committee hearing and goes to court. At that stage, 
there is interference in the processes of a Parliamentary committee by another court.  

14.16 The Committee is of the view that clause 80(c) seeks to constrain the Parliament in the conduct 
of its inquiries and places conditions on the access by Parliamentary committees to certain 
information. In so doing, this fundamentally undermines both the powers and immunities of 
parliamentary committees and the rights of unfettered access to persons by parliamentary 
committees. 

Hon Michael Mischin: Which clause was that? 

Hon GIZ WATSON: Clause 80(c). The report continues — 

14.17 A particular feature of Parliamentary inquiries is their power to compel evidence, which exists 
independent of any explicit prescription as an aspect of the power to legislate. The Bill may 
necessarily impose a limit on the general power to inquire — so that compulsory inquiries 
cannot be conducted into matters beyond the Parliament’s legislative competence. As noted, 
legal and police submissions to the JWG were that:  

• the criteria were too light — every covert operation would meet the test; and  

• it is inappropriate for the Executive to take over a judicial function.  

14.18 These criticisms apply equally to the Executive’s usurpation of Parliamentary privileges. 

14.19 The requirement that a Parliamentary hearing must be held in a closed “court” is not in accord 
with the power of the Parliament to fundamentally determine its own process. 

14.20 Further, to override the operation of Parliamentary privilege by making Parliamentary 
committee operations bound by a statute:  

• setting conditions of access between parliamentary committees and their witnesses,  

• dictating the manner in which parliamentary committees must hear evidence, and  

• making any disclosure of a witness’s identity a criminal offence,  

is a departure from the long-standing supremacy of Parliamentary privilege and a significant 
trespass on the powers, privileges and immunities of the Houses and their committees and on 
the rights of witnesses of the Parliament. 

14.21 To date, there are no known instances where a committee has requested an individual to 
disclose their real identity. 

I might just interrupt the committee report at this point to say that a case has been raised, as I understand it, by a 
committee of the other place in which the identity of an operative may have been made public because the 
operative did not ask to have that information suppressed until after the report had been tabled, at which point 
the operative asked for suppression of their identity. There was no fault on behalf of the Parliament; that 
committee did no wrong. I strongly suggest, having been on a number of standing committees in this place for 
the last 15 years, as chair or deputy chair in many cases, that the committees of this house approach with the 
utmost seriousness and professionalism information that may be required to be kept confidential. For the 
government to suggest that a committee of this Parliament acted in a way that has jeopardised an operative is 
wrong; it was not the Parliament’s issue. Nothing this Parliament did was incorrect or inappropriate. If someone 
wants to argue another case, they can, but this is my understanding of that particular case. That operative chose 
to reveal their identity and later, when the report was tabled, realised that it was not a very good idea. 

Hon Michael Mischin: I think we are talking about a totally different case. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: All right; we can talk about the other case, if the Attorney General likes. I understand the 
allegation is that a member in the other place threatened to name an operative and reveal their identity. 

Hon Michael Mischin: No. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: Okay; although we might note that the CCC exonerated that particular member for that 
action. 
Hon Michael Mischin: No, I’m not talking about that one at all. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: Perhaps when the Attorney General has the chance to respond, he can tell me. 
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Hon Michael Mischin: Behind the Chair I will, at some stage, but I don’t want to reveal too much in Hansard 
that might — 

Hon GIZ WATSON: How is the Parliament meant to make a decision if — 

Hon Michael Mischin: If you’d like me to jeopardise people’s safety, then that’s your opinion, but I won’t do it. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: This is the Parliament! 

Hon Michael Mischin: It’s a public record. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR (Hon Jon Ford): Order, members! 

Hon GIZ WATSON: Maybe the Attorney General should give this information in a private briefing. 

Hon Michael Mischin: That’s what I’m suggesting I do. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: I have not had the opportunity to have this information. 

Hon Michael Mischin: That, with respect, is what I’m suggesting I do. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: This is exactly the problem with this kind of legislation. Who is in charge here—the 
police or the Parliament? 

Hon Michael Mischin: No, I just don’t want to kill people, that’s all. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: That is very dramatic. 

Okay, I will continue with the committee report. It states further — 
14.21 To date, there are no known instances where a committee has requested an individual to 

disclose their real identity. As to whether a committee would ever inquire into the identity of 
an individual, this is highly unlikely. Parliamentary committees have been known to respect 
the wishes of persons appearing before them by using non-identifying information in tabled 
reports. In comparison, Western Australia Police wish to retain clause 80(c) on the cryptic 
basis that they “have had some experience in relation to disclosure of details relating to covert 
operatives who appeared before a parliamentary committee”. Western Australia Police said:  

A previous Parliamentary Committee did not heed a confidentiality agreement and 
allowed the names of covert operatives to be published. The Western Australia Police 
seeks to assure that the protection of an operatives name cannot be left to chance and 
that future administrative errors cannot occur or result in harm to an operative. 

14.22 It is the Committee’s view that Western Australia Police has not justified the definition of 
“court” in clause 80 as it applies to the Parliament and its committees. The Committee 
therefore makes the following recommendation. 

I remind members that the committee making this recommendation is a cross-party committee of this Parliament. 
Recommendation 25 reads — 

Recommendation 25: The Committee recommends that clause 80(c) of the Criminal Investigation 
(Covert Powers) Bill 2011 be amended. This may be effected in the following manner.  
Page 65, lines 21 to 24 — To delete the lines and insert —  
(c) a commission, board, committee or other body established by the Governor or by the 
Government of the State to inquire into any matter;  

That would preserve the privileges of this Parliament. 

It is my understanding that I, on behalf of the Greens (WA), am likely to be the only member arguing in favour 
of this amendment, which is deeply disappointing given that we have an excellent report produced by the 
Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review. I know for a fact that there are members from 
other political parties who feel as passionately about this as I do, but the nature of party politics is such that they 
will probably not even be able to speak on this particular clause, which is a travesty in my humble opinion. With 
those comments, I indicate that — 

Hon Michael Mischin: That’s a bit patronising, isn’t it? 

Hon GIZ WATSON: Does the Attorney General think it is not true? 

Hon Michael Mischin interjected. 
Hon GIZ WATSON: Well, he is wrong. 
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Hon Michael Mischin: If you say so. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: The Attorney General does not know who I have been talking to and what they have been 
saying. I have been around this place long enough to know occasions when there are very strong views held 
within political parties that are constrained because their party position is different, and often — 

Hon Michael Mischin: I haven’t noticed any Greens crossing the floor.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: We are consistent on this matter, unlike — 

The DEPUTY CHAIR (Hon Jon Ford): Order, members! This is not a little boxing match. Hon Giz Watson 
does not have to justify her position and the minister should not be enticing that sort of reaction.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: I am quite happy to have a boxing match because that is what is going to happen. I do not 
normally have them, but this issue is of such significance. Members know that I do not normally resort to, I 
guess, more passionate kinds of comments, but to me this is a question of whether we in this place are operating 
in the best interests of the Parliament. We are elected to this place to not only represent the policy positions of 
our political parties but also operate as representatives of this Parliament. This Parliament has a long and strong 
tradition of protecting parliamentary privilege. At this point I will make the comment that I learnt a lot of this 
from parliamentary colleagues from the Liberal Party. If members of the stature of Hon Derrick Tomlinson, Hon 
Peter Foss or others were here, they would be stating exactly what I am saying in this place. It is not that we are 
in this place just to represent our political parties, which in my humble opinion are kowtowing to the WA Police 
service, but we are also here to protect the fundamentals of parliamentary privilege. No other Parliament in 
Australia has contemplated or accepted this sort of imposition on their Parliaments. I find it extraordinary that 
we are the only political party in this state that is willing to stand up and say that parliamentary privilege is 
something that should be preserved and that we should not give away these powers lightly. I have been involved 
in many parliamentary inquiries, from all angles. Again, if we are imposing these sorts of limitations on the 
operation of parliamentary committees, I think it is fundamentally wrong, and I will do everything I can to 
oppose it. That is why I am saying what I am saying. I am trying to encourage members to have some courage in 
this matter. We have a dual role. We have more than one role—at least two roles—and one is to be 
parliamentarians. This is the sort of clause that calls upon us to think as parliamentarians, to stand on a matter of 
principle and to not think, as we might, in a populist, political way. I will sit down at this point, but I have some 
questions on this clause that I will go into in a minute. If the Attorney General wishes to respond, this is his 
opportunity.  

Hon SUE ELLERY: I have not participated in the debate to date and I know that is probably a reason for some 
frustration on the part of my good friend Hon Giz Watson. I was just watching the debate in my office and I do 
have to put on the record that I absolutely reject any assertion that members of the Labor Party have been asked, 
given an instruction or directed to not contribute to this debate. If the assertion is that there are Labor Party 
members of the committee who have been asked, directed or instructed to not speak in this debate, that is 
incorrect. I cannot speak on behalf of any other members of the chamber, but with respect to Labor Party 
members that is not correct. If Hon Giz Watson would like to suggest otherwise, I invite her to do that and I 
invite Labor Party members of the committee to stand and say whether they have been given an instruction, a 
direction, a suggestion or a request to not speak, because that has not occurred.  
Hon GIZ WATSON: In responding to my friend and colleague I note that the instruction does not have to be 
stated.  
Hon Michael Mischin: Is there anything else? 
Hon Sue Ellery: Honestly, that is just — 
The DEPUTY CHAIR: Order, members! I think we are slipping off the bill here.  
Hon PHILIP GARDINER: This is not an area that I know about in depth in terms of the detail, but I do not 
think it requires an in-depth knowledge of the detail to understand what is involved. What is involved here, as i 
understand it, is the power of the Parliament versus the power of the police or of anything else. Where should the 
supreme power lie? We are all very ordinary people in this Parliament; that is how I see it, anyway. It is almost 
remarkable that we achieve what is achieved over the years. But that means that we need the confidence even 
more in the ability of our fellow parliamentarians to carry out their responsibilities, which are very deep, as 
members of this Parliament and this chamber. The privilege of Parliament was first worked through in 1689, as I 
understand it, so for 320-odd years the privilege of Parliament has prevailed with few blemishes. One blemish, 
unfortunately, occurred in our own state I think in 1996 when a compromise occurred. It is like a number of 
things. It is like the environment, if we like. It may be like a number of other issues. We chip away at the edge 
and before we know it we have really taken the knife to something that is fundamental. I am very strong that the 
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privilege of Parliament—the supremacy of Parliament—is not just a principle. When I use that word “principle”, 
we often think that religion has the same impact here. This is not about religion. This is not about something that 
we cannot see and have difficulty understanding; this is about the practicality of running our society.  

There is some history, as we know, around Australia with the introduction of covert powers. I must say that I 
was sceptical until I went to the first briefing in the Liberal Party room about nine months ago or whenever it 
was. I was convinced by the police that their job is a very difficult one in getting to understand and find 
professional criminals, and they have to rely on covert powers. I accepted the argument they made to us at that 
time. I also have a great deal of respect, empathy and sympathy for those people who undertake undercover 
activities in an attempt to expose the criminality that exists in these professional criminal groupings. I have been 
advised that there have been mistakes in Western Australia. All the states that have these covert powers in 
Australia, including the federal government, and also the United Kingdom—I was interested in whether the 
situation was similar in the UK—are places where there have not been any mistakes or any exposure of people 
whose names—this is what we are coming to in the detail—have been exposed and released to the public to 
endanger their lives.  
It is very interesting that the supremacy of Parliament has prevailed in a very professional way despite our 
“ordinariness” throughout other parts of the country where these covert powers are, and in the United Kingdom. 

Essentially, it is too hard to know what will happen in the future to be able to compromise the privilege powers 
of Parliament. Let us say I was Premier, heaven forbid, and a corrupt one. Let us say I wanted to pick on one of 
my colleagues here because they were causing me a problem. Let us also say that I had a corrupt police 
commissioner who employed an undercover agent to find out all the dirt on the person who I have a problem 
with, and then finally that is exposed and it comes before a committee of inquiry, which is set up by Parliament, 
but we cannot find out who these people are. I think there is the danger of compromising our privilege. There 
may even be solutions to that, but there will be other examples by which this compromise will come back to bite 
us.  
Hon Giz Watson aligned the proposed amendment with her passion for the importance of this issue. I urge 
members to seriously consider its implications, not just the detail, for the principle of upholding the privileges 
that we have that have been operating for such a long time. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I rise to contribute to the consideration of clause 80. I say at the outset to Hon Giz 
Watson: rest assured that for however long it is that I am in this place, it will never be the case that someone 
from my side or the other side of the chamber will tell me whether I will rise to my feet and contribute to any 
particular bill. Having said that, it is probably the first time since I have been in Parliament that I am contributing 
not knowing what I am going to do yet, basically because I need to be persuaded as to the right course to take on 
this bill. I place a great deal of weight at this moment—subject to what my learned friend the Attorney General 
will say in due course—on the sixty-ninth report of the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes 
Review. I place a great deal of weight on it because I am of the view, which I have expressed a few times before, 
that when we ask four members of this place to invest their time to sit around a table, consider a bill and give us 
their views, we should listen and take account of those views; otherwise there is really no point in getting them 
to do so in the first place. These four honourable members have spent more time on this bill than any of the rest 
of us. These four members, two of whom are my good friends and colleagues from the Liberal Party, 
unanimously hold the view that this is an issue. Who am I to come along and spend far less time considering this 
matter and say, “Those four don’t really know what they’re talking about, the committee doesn’t really know 
what it is talking about; therefore, I’m going to place very little weight on it”? I am not about to start doing that 
now. I certainly welcome members in the future, should they see me falling into that trap, to remind me of the 
comments I am making this afternoon. The first reason that we need to take this matter very seriously is that a 
bipartisan, unanimous report of this committee has made a recommendation.  

The second reason that we need to pause and consider this matter is that I note in the committee report—
Hon Giz Watson spent some time articulating this point—this provision deviates from the model law. In fact I 
note page 62 of the committee’s report states, in part — 

14.3 The Committee noted that the definition of “court” deviates from the Model Law in a 
significant way.  

I was not there, I am not a member of the committee, so I do not know why it chose to use the word 
“significant”. The committee could have said it noted that the definition of “court” deviates from the model in an 
“insignificant”, “inconsequential” or “immaterial” way. No—the committee said it deviates in a significant way. 
How much value do we place on the skills, expertise and time of these four members, who have gone away to 
look at this bill in detail and then come back and said to the rest of us in here, “Alert! This deviates in a 
significant way”? Again, I need to pay attention to what this committee has said.  
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If I understand WA Police’s objections to the committee’s position, the third reason I take this matter very 
seriously is that there are some concerns around what a committee might be able to do in the event that an 
operative appears before a committee as a witness. I stand to be corrected if my understanding of the WA Police 
position is incorrect in that regard, but I understand that is what is at the heart of the issue. I take that from 
page 66 of the uniform legislation committee’s report where WA Police are quoted as saying they “have had 
some experience in relation to disclosure of details relating to covert operatives who appeared before a 
parliamentary committee”. Clearly, the issue is that people might appear before a committee and WA Police are 
concerned about what might happen in those circumstances.  

My understanding is that a committee in and of itself does not have extraordinary powers. It is actually this 
chamber that has the extraordinary powers. Perhaps I can explain it in this way: if a witness comes before a 
committee and is asked by the chair of the committee to reveal their full name and the witness declines that 
request, the committee cannot do very much about that other than report the matter to the house. As I say, if I am 
wrong on that, no doubt members who have been here far longer than I have will jump to their feet shortly and 
correct me on that. If it is the case, a report is then brought to the attention of the Legislative Council. It is up to 
this chamber to decide what it will do. Does this chamber then presumably refer the matter to the Standing 
Committee on Procedure and Privileges for some investigation? Does it want to do anything about that? In due 
course, does this chamber want to penalise this person or create some sanction for them not having revealed their 
full name?  

I guess I am saying that I place a great deal of weight on what the committee has done in a unanimous, bipartisan 
way, but I am also mindful of what we are actually squabbling about here. It seems to me that we are squabbling 
about the possibility that a committee might report a so-called breach by a witness to this chamber, and then 
what? Knowing all of these things, is this chamber really likely to say that what this undercover operative did is 
inexcusable and that they should have told the committee what their full name was? This chamber has 36 
members. I suppose we would need a majority, so let us say a majority is 19 members. Would we say, 
“Notwithstanding the objections, we want to put this person’s life at risk? Forget about what the person has said, 
forget about what WA Police has said, we want to put this person’s life at risk so we’re going to implement some 
kind of sanction or somehow force this person to disclose their real name”? I am not exactly sure how one forces 
someone to articulate words out of their mouth to say what their name is. I presume even in the worst-case 
scenario the person would just say, “Well, lock me up!” Members need to ask themselves whether ultimately, in 
the worst case scenario, this house is really going to say that in all those circumstances this undercover operative 
who refuses to give their name to the committee or the house will be put in jail. That seems to me to be the 
ultimate sanction here. It just seems to me such an incredibly unlikely scenario, and I just wonder if we are, with 
all due respect to Western Australia Police, sweating the small stuff. I know that some people are going to be 
highly offended by me saying that because they are going to say that people’s lives are not the small stuff, and, 
naturally, who of us would disagree with that? But we have to see it in its proper context. I just cannot see it as 
the enormous issue it is being made out to be at this point. I say all that but, reverting to my earlier comments, I 
am happy to be persuaded otherwise because I have not decided what I will do on this bill. I certainly am not one 
to be a martyr for the sake of it; if it is pretty clear that this is going nowhere in this house and people are not 
minded to take into account the views of the committee, I do not know that I am inclined to die in a ditch over it, 
because the reverse is also true. Ultimately, how often is this really going to be an issue? However, I said in my 
speech last night that we have to be careful of the salami approach—one slice at a time—and I am mindful of the 
comments of Hon Philip Gardiner, who said that if we incrementally over time basically slice away at these 
things, it can become a problem. I think that is the better default position—the principled approach to take—but 
let us be persuaded otherwise; perhaps there is something very significant I am not aware of that might convince 
me otherwise.  

One of the things I want to draw to people’s attention relates to a committee report.  

[Member’s time extended.] 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: It is the twenty-eighth report—tabled in June—of the Joint Standing Committee on the 
Corruption and Crime Commission, which I chair. It is funny that this matter should come up today because we 
did momentarily touch on it yesterday and defer consideration to a future sitting. The relevance of this report is 
that this committee undertook briefings with people whose real names do not appear in the report. The 
committee wanted to find out whether there could be a role for the Corruption and Crime Commission in 
investigating the proceeds of crime and unexplained wealth. Members are aware that there is a point of view that 
the Corruption and Crime Commission should have expanded powers to investigate organised crime, and this 
committee wondered whether, if the government was minded to that particular view, there could be a narrow 
jurisdiction to which the Corruption and Crime Commission could restrict itself, being the area of the proceeds 
of crime and unexplained wealth. In order to do that, the committee had cause—I refer to page 7 of 
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the June 2012 report—to speak with people from the Federal Bureau of Investigation in Chicago. Page 7 
reads — 

In Chicago the Committee was met by the Special Agent in Charge of the Chicago Division of the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation, Mr Robert D. Grant, and two senior FBI Chicago Division officers, 
Special Agents Ted McNamara and Chris Mackey. 

I bring that to the attention of members—I think perhaps Hon Giz Watson will be interested in it—because I am 
saying, in contrast to everything I have said so far, that when we look at whether we are actually sweating the 
small stuff here or not, when this committee had this briefing from these individuals we were able to proceed 
with complete confidence, notwithstanding that these FBI agents from another jurisdiction were hardly going to 
disclose to us what their real names were. It really did not matter, because we did not care what their real names 
were. If the guy says he is Robert Grant, good; I do not care if his name is Joe Bloggs. What I actually want to 
know from him is how their money-laundering legislation works, whether it is effective, whether it could be 
beneficial to Western Australia to copy their model, and whether it could be something that the Corruption and 
Crime Commission could engage in. It was the content of what the individuals had to say that we were interested 
in, bearing in mind that it was their expertise and experience that was important to the committee, not their 
names.  

As I say, I have not made my mind up on this particular matter at this point. I am more inclined towards the view 
of the committee for all the reasons I have said, but I am happy to be persuaded otherwise. Ultimately, as I hope 
I have demonstrated with this CCC committee briefing with the Chicago FBI, I wonder how much of an issue it 
really is. Hopefully the Attorney General will be able to enlighten us, and I acknowledge at that point, as I 
conclude, that the Attorney General is representing the Minister for Police, who ultimately has carriage of this 
matter. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: I listened with interest to that thoughtful contribution. I just wanted to make a point about 
Hon Nick Goiran’s final point. I think the member is right; in most cases in committee operations the identity of 
a witness is irrelevant because it is the information that is required. The difference in this clause is that we are 
not talking about sworn officers; operatives can be civilians, and civilians with a criminal record. The 
circumstance I am particularly envisaging is if a committee needed to cross-examine a witness and establish the 
veracity of their character and evidence; if it did not know who it was talking to, then it could not do that. I think 
that is the difference. I absolutely agree with Hon Nick Goiran that in most instances the operations of a 
committee and the information it can usefully gain will not be impeded by an operative requesting their identity 
be kept private. My point is that I think parliamentary committees know how to act responsibly and differentiate, 
and make information in the public interest public, and information that is not, not. This removes that discretion 
from us. That is the fundamental problem.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I have listened to this with some interest, and I have to say that I agree with a fair 
bit of what Hon Giz Watson has said as to matters of principle, and what she said about the bill insofar as she 
summarised the contents of that division of the bill; except that she seems to have glossed over a couple of key 
provisions that have a bearing on the concerns she has raised. I will just take one example: the possibility of 
someone coming before a court or coming before a committee of the Parliament and it not knowing their true 
identity or whether they have a criminal record. A witness identity protection certificate is required to include 
certain information, and I direct Hon Giz Watson’s attention to clause 84 of the bill. As to the concern that a 
committee will be denied the ability to inquire into a matter because the person is a protected witness, and the 
ability to uncover the truth when it may be germane to know the true identity of a witness, I direct her to clause 
90 of the bill. As to the idea that injustices can be done in a court because a witness cannot be cross-examined as 
to their veracity, character or criminal history, I again direct her to clause 90 of the bill. For reasons I do not 
understand, much of the argument seems to be based on a suggestion that there will be an inability for a court or 
committee of the Parliament to inquire into matters germane to their interest because the true identity of a 
witness cannot be disclosed. If, as Hon Nick Goiran has pointed out, in 99.9 cent of cases the important thing is 
the information—it arises only rarely for consideration anyway because, fortunately, we do not have to rely on 
this sort of witness and inquire into these matters very frequently—there are opportunities to deal with this sort 
of thing and to inquire and push behind the barriers that are provided because of the very terms of the bill. So, 
frankly, I do not know what the argument is about. Yes, there is some effect on parliamentary privilege and the 
ability to go blundering in, asking questions and demanding of a witness their true identity because for some 
reason the committee wants it rather than actually needs it. That is something that is important, and the example 
that I alluded to the other day is not the one that Hon Giz Watson has raised but one that was particularly 
significant and has caused lasting harm. I am quite happy to talk to her about it in private, rather than to reveal 
details that may aggravate the problem that was created. I would rather lose the argument than cause harm. I am 
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happy to talk to her and provide her with the information I can in the hope that she will retain an open mind and 
be open to persuasion rather than dogma. 

On that note, it is my intention to postpone consideration of this clause, as there are some areas that I wish to 
explore and to be open to briefings on the subject and provide any information I can on the subject in order to 
satisfy members’ concerns. What I do not want is an argument on the floor of the chamber about matters which 
are, frankly, very important and which are reflected already in legislation that was passed by this chamber in 
1996, the Witness Protection (Western Australia) Act 1996—so none of this is unique—to protect witnesses who 
are under a scheme that requires their identities to be protected, yet it seems to be such a big step to deny it to 
police officers and civilians who may be working with the police as covert operatives in strictly controlled 
operations to achieve the ends that are sought by the bill. At this point, I seek to postpone consideration of clause 
80. There is at least one amendment, I think; it is the standing committee’s recommendation. We can proceed 
with the consideration of the remainder of the bill and perhaps the already postponed clauses, if we can get onto 
them, and deal with this clause down the track. 

Hon KATE DOUST: I want to thank the Attorney General for taking that approach. I have listened to a number 
of the speakers in this place and I have read the report. I know that I made comments in my second reading 
contribution referring to the submission that had been made by the Clerk to the committee. We all have concerns 
about reducing privilege, but I do understand the concerns that are held for those people who operate in a covert 
arrangement. I am not too sure how frequently they would be required to present before a parliamentary 
committee—I think it would be a rare exception—but we have taken note of the concerns about the implications 
for those individuals. I am pleased that the Attorney General has decided to postpone this clause until we can 
have a better consideration of the matters, and perhaps some more explanation about what is involved for those 
covert operatives when they come to present to a committee. I do not know whether we will deal with that today 
or whether we will get to it next week, but I am sure that we will be able to have some open discussion about 
that, and the opposition certainly appreciates the opportunity to canvass the issue behind the Chair to fully 
understand it better. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: There is just one other thing that I want to add for the record. I have not and I am 
not aware of anyone on my side of the house in the government having directed or instructed, either implicitly or 
explicitly, any member of the government to speak or not to speak on this bill, and I reject outright the 
patronising suggestion that somehow the Greens are the only foundation of truth and justice in this state and that 
somehow they are the only independent-minded people here. As I mentioned by way of interjection, I have not 
known a Greens member to cross the floor from their side of the house. 

Further consideration of the clause postponed until after consideration of clause 126, on motion by Hon 
Michael Mischin (Attorney General).  

Clauses 81 to 87 put and passed. 

Clause 88: Orders to protect operative’s true identity or location — 

Hon ADELE FARINA: I stand to move committee recommendation 26, which appears on the supplementary 
notice paper as amendment 24/88 — 

Page 72, lines 17 to 19 — To delete the lines and insert —  

(a) must hear the proceeding (including any application made under section 86 or 90 or 
order made under section 88(1)(b) relating to the proceeding), in a closed court; and 

The committee has made this recommendation in response to the submission received from the Director of 
Public Prosecutions. The DPP claimed that the reference in subclause (1) to section 88 may be an error because 
section 88 refers to orders that can be made by the court but does not refer to the actual application that needs to 
be made to obtain those orders. The DPP queried whether the reference should be to section 89. The Western 
Australia Police said that it disagreed with the DPP because clause 89 deals with the disclosure of the operative’s 
true identity to a presiding officer, which does not require any application by the operative. However, the WA 
Police acknowledged that the wording of clause 88(1)(a) is ambiguous and requires amendment, and it suggested 
the words that appear on page 68 of the committee report — 

The court in which a witness identity protection certificate is filed —  
(a) must hear the proceeding (including any application made under section 86 or 90 or 

order made under section 88(1)(b) relating to the proceeding, in a closed court, and  
The committee agreed with the proposed amendment and therefore made recommendation 26, which I have just 
read about. For those reasons, I seek members’ support for that amendment. 
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: Hon Adele Farina has summarised the position very well. However, the 
government has proposed its own version of that amendment and, amongst other things, has refined some of the 
terminology that has been used in the proposed amendment of the committee. For example, there is a reference 
in the committee amendment to section 88(1)(b). It is not usual in drafting to refer to “section 88(1)(b)” when 
amending clause 88(1)(a), so we have just referred to it as paragraph (b). There is form rather than substance. 
The substance of the government’s amendment is the same but in a rather more refined fashion, and is consistent 
with proper drafting practice. Again, I make no criticism of the draftsperson of this amendment. The government 
will not support the committee’s recommendation, but it will propose amendment 45/88, which will achieve the 
same end. 

Amendment put and negatived. 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I move — 

Page 72, lines 17 to 19 — To delete “(including any applications relating to the proceeding, such as 
those referred to in sections 86, 88 and 90)” and insert —  

(including any application relating to the proceeding, such as an application for an order under 
paragraph (b) or an application under section 86 or 90) 

I have already covered the reasons for this amendment. I acknowledge the committee’s identification of that 
ambiguity that needs to be corrected. 

Amendment put and passed. 
Clause, as amended, put and passed. 
Clauses 89 to 99 put and passed.  
Clause 100: Delegation — 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I move — 

Page 81, line 8 — To delete the line and insert —  

(i) an SES employee as defined in the Australian Crime Commission Act 2002 
(Commonwealth) section 4(1); or 

The reasons for this amendment are the same as those for the like amendments to clauses 43 and 79 to 
accommodate changes in title in the commonwealth public service and relevant statute. 

Amendment put and passed. 
Clause, as amended, put and passed. 
Clauses 101 to 111 put and passed. 
Clause 112: Act amended — 
Hon NICK GOIRAN: I have a couple of questions for the Attorney General in relation to part 9, which starts at 
clause 112. Members will be aware that clause 112 seeks to amend the Prostitution Act 2000. The Prostitution 
Amendment Act 2008 is unproclaimed. To what extent will that unproclaimed act affect what will happen under 
part 9? 
Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The government cannot amend laws that are not in effect. That legislation, 
although passed by both houses of Parliament, has not, as I understand it, received royal assent and, accordingly, 
it would not be for me to start amending it. There is no proposal, as I understand it, to have that legislation 
receive royal assent and be proclaimed. 

Hon Giz Watson: I’m sorry; I didn’t hear that. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am sorry; I will start again. Albeit the 2008 bill has been passed, it has not 
received royal assent. It is not a law. There is no intention on the part of the government to have it proclaimed, so 
there is no amendment foreshadowed to that legislation; nor will it become relevant unless it becomes a law of 
the state. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: Given that there is no intention to proclaim that amendment act, and in order to ensure 
that we understand part 9 and the law exactly as it stands—in other words, the Prostitution Act 2000, 
notwithstanding the amendment act of 2008—is now an appropriate time to insert a new clause somewhere in 
part 9 to seek the repeal of the amendment act?  
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Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No; firstly, I do not have any proposed amendment to that effect; and, secondly, I 
would have thought it went beyond the scope of this particular piece of legislation, as articulated in the long title.  

Hon NICK GOIRAN: My understanding is that certainly both major parties have indicated a keenness for that 
legislation to be repealed. If that is the case and if there is no objection, would the Attorney General agree to an 
amendment along those lines?  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: No; not in the context of this legislation. 

Hon NICK GOIRAN: I understand that the Attorney General is not inclined to move it himself, but would he 
object to an amendment if I were to move it?  

The DEPUTY CHAIR (Hon Jon Ford): Before the Attorney General replies—not having seen the proposed 
amendment, the Attorney General pointed out that it would probably be beyond the scope of the bill—I would be 
inclined to make a ruling to that effect.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I cannot stop Hon Nick Goiran from moving whichever amendment he wishes, 
but I have a feeling that standing orders would be against him on this point. I recall there is a provision 
somewhere in them about the scope that amendments can take. Frankly, I cannot see a way of justifying an 
amendment to repeal an act that is not immediately germane to either the bill in its current form, the policy it 
reveals in the way it is framed, or its long title or, indeed, that is not within the bounds of the second reading 
speech.  

The DEPUTY CHAIR: I just remind the Attorney General that I know it is difficult not to look at someone in 
the eye when you are speaking to them; however, it precludes everyone else from hearing. And no, we are not 
going to have lapel microphones; not in my time! 

Clause put and passed.  

Clauses 113 to 126 put and passed.  

New clause 101A — 

Hon ADELE FARINA: When the committee considered the bill, the committee noted that there was no review 
of the powers being provided to law enforcement agencies. The committee expressed a view that, given the 
extraordinary nature of these powers being granted, and that the method of reporting to the Parliament is process 
driven rather than evaluative, a review of parts 2 and 3 of the bill should be undertaken five years after 
commencement. The committee made a recommendation to that effect on page 70 of the committee’s report. It 
stands on the supplementary notice paper as amendment 25/NC101A. However, I do not intend to move that 
amendment at this time. I would like to move the amendment standing in my name at 158/NC101A on page 12 
of the supplementary notice paper. I do this because, at the time the committee drafted the recommendation, it 
was not appreciated that it was intended that various parts of the bill would be proclaimed at different times and 
that some provisions may never be enacted—there is always that risk. As we have just heard from Hon Nick 
Goiran, a whole amendment bill has not actually come into effect. The issue here is that the executive of 
whichever political party of the day could avoid the review provision by not enacting that particular part of the 
bill, so the amendment on the notice paper in my name seeks to avoid that likelihood. I move — 

Page 82, after line 6 — To insert — 

101A.  Review of Parts 2 and 3 — 

(1) The Minister must carry out a review of the operation and effectiveness of 
Parts 2 and 3 of this Act as soon as practicable after the expiration of 5 years 
after the date on which the Act received Royal Assent. 

(2) The Minister must prepare a report based on the review and must cause the 
report to be laid before each House of Parliament as soon as practicable after 
the report is prepared and in any event not more than 18 months after the 
expiry of the period referred to in subsection (1). 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: Unfortunately, the member cannot move her amendment because there are a number of 
amendments before that, including the one we are dealing with, “Committee recommendation 27”, that have 
precedence.  

Hon Adele Farina: I have not moved it, so it should fall away.  
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The DEPUTY CHAIR: That is right. If the member is not moving it, Hon Giz Watson’s new clause 101A 
would be the next one to be dealt with. However, you could move the committee recommendation 27 
amendment and seek leave to amend it as per the amendment on page 12 that you just talked to.  

Hon ADELE FARINA: If that pleases the Deputy Chair, I will do as you suggested. Thank you. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: You are moving committee recommendation 27 on page 11 of the supplementary notice 
paper and seeking leave to amend it. Does everyone understand that? The member is now seeking leave to 
amend her amendment 158/NC101A to become 25/NC101A. 

Leave granted. 

The DEPUTY CHAIR: The question before the chamber is — 

Page 82, after line 6 — To insert — 

101A.  Review of Parts 2 and 3 — 
(1) The Minister must carry out a review of the operation and effectiveness of 

Parts 2 and 3 of this Act as soon as practicable after the expiration of 5 years 
after the date on which the Act received Royal Assent. 

(2) The Minister must prepare a report based on the review and must cause the 
report to be laid before each House of Parliament as soon as practicable after 
the report is prepared and in any event not more than 18 months after the 
expiry of the period referred to in subsection (1). 

Hon KATE DOUST: We are spoilt for choice. I wanted to put on the record that the opposition is very pleased 
that we are now considering a provision to go into this bill that deals with review. We have a range of options. I 
am not too sure which one we will end up with, but I wanted to put on the record that we support the fact the bill 
will now contain a review provision.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: We also raised this issue and supported the committee’s findings on the need for a review 
of this bill should it become an act. It introduces significant new powers, and there is a high public interest in 
how they are exercised. I have a similar amendment on the notice paper, which we might not need to get to. In 
essence, the only difference is that my suggestion was that the review should occur within three years, not five, 
because of the exceptional powers that this provides. Obviously, we are supportive of a review, even if it occurs 
after five years.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I wish to be allowed a moment to consider the amended amendment and compare 
it with the amendment standing in my name at 160/NC101A. They are pretty much to the same effect. I am just 
looking at whether there are any subtle differences in grammar that may be of moment that reflect the way 
parliamentary counsel prefers it to be framed. I do not know who drafted the amendment that Hon Adele Farina 
has put forward. There may not be a material difference but I want to satisfy myself of that. The government has 
no objection, in principle, to the substance of what is being done, and I will revert to you in a moment, Mr 
Deputy Chair. 

Hon ADELE FARINA: For the record, the Attorney General queried who drafted my amendment. I just put on 
the record that I drafted it myself.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: In substance, the amendments are to the same effect. I understand that when Hon 
Adele Farina first put her amendment on the supplementary notice paper, parliamentary counsel was consulted 
about how it would be framed and it came up with the amendment standing in my name. There are some subtle 
differences in the way it is framed. It accords with the way it would ordinarily frame provisions in an act of 
Parliament. I inquire whether Hon Adele Farina has any objection to forgoing her amendment on the basis that 
the amendment standing in my name be passed in preference to hers. The most material difference, I suppose, is 
that hers is framed in terms of “as soon as practicable after the expiration after 5 years after the date on which the 
Act received Royal Assent” as opposed to “as soon as is practicable after the end of the period of 5 years 
beginning on the day on which this Act receives the Royal Assent”. 
Hon Adele Farina: Your amendment does not refer to royal assent. It says, “the day on which this act comes 
into operation”. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I ask Hon Adele Farina to look at the amendment on the bottom of page 11 of 
issue 10 of the supplementary notice paper.  

Hon Ed Dermer: Can I make a suggestion that perhaps the Attorney General ask the Deputy Chair to leave the 
chair until the ringing of the bells if we are sorting out amendments in this manner. 
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The DEPUTY CHAIR (Hon Jon Ford): I do not think we require that. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am hoping that it will not take that long. 

I understand that Hon Adele Farina is content for my amendment to be inserted. Is that right?  

Hon Adele Farina: That is correct.  

New clause, by leave, withdrawn.  
Hon GIZ WATSON: I inform the chamber that I will not be moving my amendment.  

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: I am obliged to Hon Adele Farina and Hon Giz Watson. I move — 

New Clause 101A — 
Page 82, after line 6 — To insert — 

101A. Review of Parts 2 and 3 
(1) The Minister must carry out a review of the operation and 

effectiveness of Parts 2 and 3 as soon as is practicable after the end 
of the period of 5 years beginning on the day on which this Act 
receives the Royal Assent. 

(2) The Minister must prepare a report based on the review and must 
cause the report to be laid before each House of Parliament as soon 
as is practicable after it is prepared and, in any event, not later than 
18 months after the end of the period referred to in subsection (1). 

New clause put and passed. 
New part 7A — 
Hon ADELE FARINA: I move — 

Page 84, after line 10 — To insert —  
Part 7A — Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 2003 amended 

106A. Act amended 
This Part amends the Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 2003. 

106B. Section 13 amended 
In section 13(5) delete “section 27.” and insert: 
section 27 or the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012 section 27, 31 or 
34. 

106C. Section 16 amended 
In section 16(5) delete “section 27.” and insert: 
section 27 or the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012 section 27, 31 or 
34. 

106D. Section 17 amended 
In section 17(5) delete “section 27.” and insert: 
section 27 or the Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012 section 27, 31 or 
34.  

The sixty-ninth report of the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes review outlines the 
reasons for this recommendation. The report states, at pages 42 and 43 — 

10.84 The Committee noted that clause 27 prevents a victim of crime from making a claim for 
compensation under the Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 2003 in the event the offence has 
been committed under the authority issued under the Bill. This raises that fundamental 
legislative principle the Committee routinely considers: Does the legislation have sufficient 
regard to the rights and liberties of individuals? 

10.85 The Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 2003 provides that a person who suffers personal 
injury as a consequence of the commission of an alleged offence where no person has been 
charged may apply for compensation for that injury and any loss also suffered. Injury is 
defined in the Act to mean bodily harm, mental and nervous shock or pregnancy. However, if 
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under section 17(4), the Chief Assessor is satisfied that the person who committed the alleged 
offence was not criminally responsible for it (unless by reason of insanity), then the alleged 
offence is taken not to have been committed and the assessor cannot make an award for 
compensation. Thus, removal of criminal responsibility for criminal activity has an adverse 
effect on victim’s rights and the victim will not have their day in court or the vindication of 
public sanction of the wrong they have suffered. Further, a victim will be unable to apply for 
compensation for loss and damage to property and reasonable expenses incurred as a result of 
the offence against a convicted offender. 

10.86 Thus, clause 27 effectively removes these rights (this may more properly be characterised as a 
legitimate expectation, as the rights do not arise in the absence of criminal responsibility or 
until conviction). When a retrospective controlled operations authority is granted the Bill 
removes existing rights retrospectively. 

10.87 Evidence led at a hearing with Western Australia Police reveals that the absence of provisions 
in the Bill conferring rights equivalent to those under the Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 
2003 was unintentional. Western Australia Police, as the instructing department, agreed to put 
forward an amendment to the Bill in consultation with the Chief Assessor of Criminal Injuries 
Compensation, given that it is likely a consequential amendment may also be needed to the 
Criminal Injuries Compensation Act 2003. 

So it was that the committee made the recommendation standing on the notice paper, which I have just read out, 
at 26/NP7A. I seek members’ support for that amendment. 

Hon MICHAEL MISCHIN: The government supports the proposed amendment. It in fact reflects in its terms 
the amendment standing in my name at 48/NP7A. I am advised that the exclusion of an avenue of compensation 
under the Criminal Injuries Compensation Act was an unintended consequence of the drafting of this legislation, 
so the government is happy to support the amendment as put by Hon Adele Farina. 

New part put and passed. 

Progress reported and leave granted to sit again at a later stage of the sitting, on motion by Hon Michael 
Mischin (Attorney General). 

[Continued on page 5804.] 
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